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(3) Failure to Pay Overtime and Double 

Overtime Compensation in Violation of Labor 

Code § 1194 and Wage Order No. 4-2001, § 

3(A); 

(4)  Failure to Provide Compliant Meal Periods 

in Violation of Labor Code §§ 226.7, 512, and 

IWC Wage Order 4-2001, § 11; 

(5)  Failure to Provide Compliant Rest Periods 

in Violation of Labor Code § 226.7 and IWC 

Wage Order 4-2001, § 12; 

(6) Failure to Make Payments Within the 

Required Time in Violation of California Labor 

Code §§ 201, 202-204; 

(7)  Statutory Penalties for Failure to Provide 

Accurate Wage Statements in Violation of 

Labor Code § 226; 

(8)  Failure to Maintain Required Records in 

Violation of California Labor Code §§ 1174, 

1174.5 and Wage Order No. 4, § 7;  

(9)  Restitution for Unfair Business Practices 

(Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200, et seq.) 

(10)  PAGA Civil Penalties pursuant to Labor 

Code § 2699(f)(2) for Failure to Comply with 

Labor Code § 2802; 

(11)  PAGA Civil Penalties pursuant to Labor 

Code § 2699(f)(2) for Failure to Comply with 

Labor Code §§ 1182.12, 1194, 1194.2, 1197, and 

Wage Order No. 4-2001, § 4(A); 

 (12)  PAGA Civil Penalties pursuant to Labor 

Code § 2699(f)(2) for Failure to Comply with 

Labor Code §§ 226.7, 512, and IWC Wage 

Order 4-2001, §§ 11-12 

(13)  PAGA Civil Penalties pursuant to Labor 

Code § 2699(f)(2) and as permitted by Labor 

Code §§ 203, 210, and 256 for Untimely 

Separation Pay; 

(14)  PAGA Civil Penalties pursuant to Labor 

Code § 226.3; 

(15)  PAGA Civil Penalties pursuant to Labor 

Code § 558(a). 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
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Plaintiffs, MARCUS CASTRO and ADAM HARMONING, on behalf of themselves, as 

Representatives of the California Labor and Workforce Development Agency (“LWDA”), all 

similarly “aggrieved employees” and all others similarly situated, complains and alleges as 

follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiffs bring this action against Defendants as a proposed class action pursuant to 

Code of Civil Procedure section 382 based on systematic and continuous wage and hour abuses in 

violation of the California Labor Code and the Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Orders (the 

“IWC Wage Orders”). As a result of  Defendants’ uniform and systematic conduct, policies, 

practices, and procedures, Plaintiffs and a proposed class of California-based “Home Loan 

Consultant” (or “HLC”) employees are owed reimbursement of expenses, unpaid minimum, 

regular, and overtime wages, statutory penalties, restitution, and interest for a period of at least 

four years prior to the commencement of this action until the commencement of trial (hereinafter 

referred to as the proposed “Class Period” or as the “Relevant Time Period”). 

2. Plaintiffs also bring this action as a Representative Action pursuant to the California 

Private Attorneys General Act (“PAGA”), Labor Code sections 2698, et seq., on behalf of 

themselves and all other “aggrieved employees” as representatives of the California Labor and 

Workforce Development Agency (“LWDA”) for recovery of civil penalties in addition to unpaid 

wages, restitution, and statutory penalties. Plaintiffs suffered harm in loss of wages and business 

expenses and are “aggrieved employees” under the PAGA, and after having sent Notice to the 

LWDA in excess of 65 days prior to this Amendment, without cure by Defendants or without 

intervention by the LWDA, Plaintiffs are deemed by operation of law to be LWDA 

Representatives and are entitled to pursue civil penalties in this action as permitted by Labor Code 

sections 2699-2699.3.   

3. True and correct copies of the PAGA Notices filed by each Plaintiff evidencing 

compliance with PAGA’s Notice Requirements are attached hereto within Exhibit 1¸ and are 

expressly incorporated into this First Amended Complaint as if fully set forth herein. The Castro 

Notice was electronically filed with the LWDA on January 14, 2019 and sent by certified mail on 
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the same day to Defendants. The Harmoning Notice was electronically filed with the LWDA on 

January 17, 2018. The “PAGA Period” for recovery of civil penalties runs from January 14, 2018 

to the date of commencement of trial in this action (or such other date ordered the Court). 

      JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

4. Pursuant to Article VI, section 10 of the California Constitution, subject matter 

jurisdiction is proper in the Superior Court of California, County of Sacramento, State of 

California.  

5. Pursuant to sections 395 and 395.5 of the California Code of Civil Procedure, 

venue is proper in the Superior Court of California for the County of Sacramento, State of 

California, because this is where Defendants do business and it is where the corporate 

headquarters are located. 

6. Plaintiffs allege that the matter is a local case or controversy not subject to the 

Class Action Fairness Act of 2005 (“CAFA”), 28 U.S.C. section 1332(d) as there is no diversity 

jurisdiction or “minimal diversity.” The claims are based solely on California statutes and law, 

including the Labor Code, IWC Wage Orders, Code of Civil Procedure, Civil Code, and Business 

and Professions Code, and there is no federal question at issue under 28 U.S.C. section 1331.  

Plaintiffs are informed and believe individual damages are below $75,000 and that the number of 

putative Class Members is less than 100 persons, and estimated in the range of 65-80 persons.  

Further, although Defendant First Bank’s state of incorporation is Missouri, Defendant’s principle 

headquarters and primary state of operations is the State of California and the principle place for 

business is located at 16900 Goldenwest Street, Huntington Beach, California. Defendant First 

Bank operates at least 38 branches/locations in California, the most in any state combined. 

7. Moreover, PAGA civil penalty actions are not subject to federal jurisdiction. 

PARTIES 

8. Plaintiff MARCUS CASTRO is an individual who resides in California. From 

November 2016 until April 30, 2018, CASTRO was an employee of First Bank with the position 

and/or title of “Home Loan Consultant.” He and all other HLCs were uniformly and systematically 

misclassified as “outside sales” exempt employees, and were paid purely on commissions from 
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loans generated and funded. Plaintiff ADAM HARMONING is an individual who resides in 

California. From April 2017 through December 8, 2017, HARMONING was an employee of First 

Bank with the position and/or title of “Home Loan Consultant. He and all other HLC’s were 

subject to Defendant FIRST BANK’S (hereinafter “Defendant” or “FIRST BANK) unlawful 

business expense reimbursement policies and/or practices as set forth herein. 

9. FIRST BANK”) is a Missouri Corporation doing business in California. Based on 

records maintained by the California Secretary of State, FIRST BANK is incorporated in the State 

of Missouri, but maintains it principle place of business at 16900 Goldenwest Street, Huntington 

Beach, California, and derives most of its income from approximately 38 branches/locations 

located throughout the State of California.  

10. The true names and capabilities, whether individual, corporate, associate, or 

otherwise, of the Defendants named herein as DOES 1 through 50 (“DOE Defendants”) (FIRST 

BANK and DOE Defendants collectively referred to as “Defendants”), are currently unknown to 

Plaintiffs, and Plaintiffs therefore sue these DOE Defendants by such fictitious names pursuant to 

California Code of Civil Procedure section 474.  Plaintiffs will amend this complaint to allege the 

true names and capacities of the DOE Defendants when ascertained as permitted by Code of Civil 

Procedure section 474 and/or as required by law under Labor Code sections 558, 558.1, and 

1197.1, applicable IWC Wage Orders, and decisional law pursuant to Atempa v. Pedrazzani 

(2018) 27 Cal.App.5th 809 (petition for review denied, January 16, 2019) and Turman v. Superior 

Court (2017) 17 Cal.App.5th 969. Further, any person who is a managing agent, whether known 

now or later named as a DOE Defendant, is personally liable for civil penalties and wages 

pursuant to California Labor Code section 558.1, which provides: “Any employer or other person 

acting on behalf of an employer, who violates, or causes to be violated, any provision regulating 

minimum wages or hours and days of work in any order of the Industrial Welfare Commission, or 

violates, or causes to be violated, Sections 203, 226, 226.7, 1193.6, 1194, or 2802, may be held 

liable as the employer for such violation.” 

/// 

/// 
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11. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and based thereon allege, that at all times 

relevant herein, each Defendant was acting as an agent, joint venture, or as an integrated enterprise 

and/or alter ego for each of the other Defendants, and each was a co-conspirator with respect to the 

acts and the wrongful conduct alleged herein, so that each is responsible for the acts of the other in 

connection with the conspiracy and in proximate connection with the other Defendants. 

12. Plaintiffs are informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that each Defendant 

was acting partly within and partly without the scope and course of their employment, and was 

acting with the knowledge, permission, consent, and ratification of every other Defendant. 

13. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon alleges, that each of the 

Defendants was an agent, managing general partner, managing member, owner, co-owner, partner, 

employee, and/or representative of each of the Defendants, and was at all times material hereto, 

acting within the purpose and scope of such agency, employment, contract and/or representation, 

and that each of them is jointly and severally liable to Plaintiffs and the proposed Class for the acts 

alleged herein. 

14. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon alleges, that each of the 

Defendants is liable to Plaintiffs under legal theories and doctrines including but not limited to (1) 

joint employer; (2) integrated enterprise; (3) actual or ostensible agency; and/or (4) alter ego, 

based in part, on the facts set forth below.  

15. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon alleges, that each of the 

named Defendants is part of an integrated enterprise and have acted or currently act as the 

employer and/or joint employer of Plaintiffs and Class Members, making each of them liable for 

the wage and hour violations alleged herein.   

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

16. At all times relevant, Defendants maintained their corporate principal place of 

business and engaged in primary operations in the State of California. 

17. For more than four years preceding the filing of this complaint, Defendants have 

operated banking operations in nearly every major County in California accumulating customers 

and lead through their banking operations and entity with 38 of their total 82 nationwide locations 
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operating in California, with approximately 44 locations operating in various other mid-western 

states. 

18. Defendants’ customers or the public may obtain information about home loans free 

of charge through Defendants’ website, telephone, or bank representatives. 

19. Defendants’ customers or the public seeking information about home loans are 

considered potential “leads” which might be distributed to Defendants’ “Home Loan Consultants.” 

HLCs, however, under their uniform commission plan, are to generate their own business, outside 

of the FIRST BANK branches, but branch managers require the HLCs to conduct general banking 

business in a bank location and actively prevent HLCs from engaging in outside client generation 

activities.  Further, Defendants’ underwriting and processing is in the Central time zone, so for 

California HLCs, they must utilize home offices to engage in business of getting underwriting and 

funding of loans starting at 6:00 a.m., well before FIRST BANK branches open in California. 

They do this without any reimbursement from FIRST BANK for home office equipment expenses. 

20. Defendants’ “Home Loan Consultants” (“HLCs”) are employees of the company 

but are uniformly and systematically deemed exempt from overtime pay and other protections of 

the California Labor Code and applicable Industrial Welfare Commission (“IWC”) Wage Orders. 

21. Plaintiff Marcus H. Castro was employed by FIRST BANK as an exempt “outside 

sales” Home Loan Consultant (“HLC”) from approximately November 4, 2016 until 

approximately April 30 2018 in the Southern California region. His employee identification 

number was believed to be 0000170027. At the time of hire, he was provided no orientation or 

training as to First Bank’s loan processing system, but believed that there would be sufficient loan 

support and processing staff to allow him to acquire customers for home loan and mortgage 

applications. It appears he was paid solely on a commission and advance draw basis. Within 

weeks after Mr. Castro’s hire, it became apparent that First Bank branch managers and supervisors 

for assigned areas required his personal attendance in branch locations to assist in regular banking 

business which prevented Plaintiff CASTRO and other similarly-situated HLCs from actively 

engaging in outside sales activities, marketing, and other outside potential customer acquisition 

events. Plaintiff CASTRO estimates he spent, and observed others spending, upwards of 75% to 
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80% (or more) of their workweeks confined to assigned First Bank branch locations, while 

working in the range of 55-60 or more hours per week. 

22. As a “Home Loan Consultant,” Plaintiff CASTRO spent a small percentage of his 

time communicating with Defendants’ leads (or leads “Home Loan Consultants” obtained through 

their own sources) to discuss Defendants’ mortgage loan products and their suitability for the 

potential borrower.   

23. For a vast majority of his work time, Plaintiff CASTRO’s position does not permit 

him or others holding similar titles and positions to engage primarily in sales activity. 

24. First Bank completely disregarded Labor Code section 2802 and required HLCs to 

pay full price for all business use of smartphones and required home internet services, without 

reimbursement, for HLCs to monitor loan progression through the ENCOMPASS system, and 

thus, HLCs were also serving as their own loan processing agents. This required constant updating 

and monitoring of every trivial detail or else HLCs would lose the loan, lose time, and lose 

commissions. This was not a complaint just arising from Plaintiffs; all HLCs for whom Castro and 

Harmoning had contact with were spending an inordinate amount of time babysitting loans and 

could not generate new business outside the branch offices. 

25.  Once potential borrower express interest in obtaining a loan from Defendants, 

Plaintiff CASTRO and other “Home Loan Consultants” spend a considerable amount of time (far 

in excess of 50% of their work time) collecting information from potential borrowers, entering 

their information into mortgage applications, gathering documents such as tax records, pay stubs, 

bank statements, homeowners insurance, and a myriad of other records from borrowers or 

potential borrowers to process the loan application.   

26. FIRST BANK also held various events that branch managers deemed to be must 

attend events, even though the likelihood of securing a new client loan origination was minimal. 

This required travel without reimbursement of mileage and, at least once every quarter, to expend 

funds for overnight accommodations. There was no reimbursement by FIRST BANK. The only 

reimbursement offered, which did not cover the actual cost, was a taxable reimbursement of $50 

per month for a smartphone, but no equipment, no hands-free device, and the general cost of at 
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least $100 per month given the data usage necessary to interact with the Defendants. All other 

expenses - mileage, travel, tolls, parking, meals, and entertainment - were expected to be paid by 

the HLCs, despite the fact that HLCs were unable to leave the confines of the assigned branches 

for most of the workweek. The expectation, system-wide, was that HLCs were to provide in-

branch mortgage lending coverage and to assist in other bank functions (not sales) due to high 

turnover. In terms of expenses, Plaintiff CASTRO describes one intake document as stating, 

contrary to law: “How much of your own money are you willing to invest in your business to 

ensure success?” The fact is, all business was FIRST BANK’s business and in California, those 

expenses, which were many, were required to have a reasonable basis for either limitation or 

reimbursement of actual costs. FIRST BANK was not just considering HLCs “outside sales” 

employees, but in essence, illegal independent contractors under Labor Code section 226.8. 

27. Further, branch managers and supervisors require the HLCs to spend far more than 

50% of their worktime in branch locations and not outside or away from FIRST BANK locations. 

28. These activities are primarily clerical in nature and required as part of FIRST 

BANK’s policies and procedures.  

29. Defendants knew or should have known that the result of these procedures and 

policies was to restrict “Home Loan Consultants” from conducting sales activities for a majority 

of their work time in order to maintain the classification as “exempt” employees. Ostensibly, 

FIRST BANK expected Plaintiff CASTRO and all similarly-situated HLCs to engage in work for 

at least 40 hours per week. At no time did FIRST BANK actually record in-branch hours, though 

electronic records of login and password authentications would show in-branch office hours 

exceeding far more than 50% of weekly work time for Plaintiff CASTRO and other HLCs. 

Nothing at FIRST BANK accounted for meeting with clients at their work or home, doing intake 

on necessary documents and information. Plaintiff CASTRO and similar HLCs within California 

worked 6-7 days per week, traveling, meeting clients, using their own internet (without 

reimbursement), and processing information without any substantial assistance. 

30. Plaintiff CASTRO and other “Home Loan Consultants” spent most of their time 

working from an office (either home or at one of Defendants’ branches), processing loan 
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applications. 

31. FIRST BANK expected CASTRO and other “Home Loan Consultants” to maintain 

regular office hours and be physically present at the bank branch on a frequent basis, and not be 

regularly engaged in outside sales lead generation. 

32. If Plaintiff CASTRO was not working at a bank, Plaintiff was normally working 

from his home office or some other fixed office with internet access processing loan applications, 

checking on and constantly updating FIRST BANK’s “Encompass” system to push loans toward 

funding and close.   

33. FIRST BANK knew “Home Loan Consultants” would work from home to process 

loans, but failed to provide reimbursement for costs necessary to maintain a home office. 

34. Once Plaintiff CASTRO and other “Home Loan Consultants” believed they had 

completed a prospective borrower’s loan application and had provided Defendants’ mortgage loan 

processor (located out of state) with prospective borrowers’ loan applications and supporting 

records, Plaintiff and other “Home Loan Consultants” waited to obtain approval from Defendants’ 

mortgage underwriter. This process could take months and without sufficient clerical staff or loan 

processing assistants, all documentation was performed by the “Home Loan Consultant” without 

the likelihood of generating commission-based pay. 

35. “Home Loan Consultants” have no authority or discretion to approve or disapprove 

a loan.   

36. With the collapse of the subprime mortgage market in 2008, a substantial number 

of new requirements imposed upon lenders such as Defendants have made getting loans for 

prospective borrowers extremely difficult.   

37. The net effect of the increased scrutiny placed upon banks such as Defendants has 

caused many applications for prospective borrowers to be declined or delayed substantially, 

making it extremely difficult for Plaintiff and other “Home Loan Consultants” to earn a 

commission, and requiring vast amounts of hours to accumulate sufficient clerical documentation 

for mortgage underwriters, which restricts, inhibits, and often precludes outside sales activities. 

/// 
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38. In an effort to cut costs, Defendants do not provide their “Home Loan Consultants” 

with an assistant loan processor to complete the loan application paperwork for prospective 

borrowers and thus to free up time to allow Plaintiff CASTRO and “Home Loan Consultants” to 

spend looking for prospective borrowers. 

39. Instead, Defendants require Plaintiff CASTRO and “Home Loan Consultants” to 

spend a considerable amount of time (far in excess of 50% of their work time) doing the clerical 

work associated with processing loans, which, as alleged above, is a substantial time consumer for 

Plaintiff and other “Home Loan Consultants.”   

40. FIRST BANK managers know or should know that Plaintiff CASTRO and others 

in the proposed Class are spending a majority of their work time engaged in clerical tasks and not 

engaged in any significant amount of time engaged in soliciting potential borrowers. For Plaintiff 

and all similarly-situated California-based HLCs the following facts were common and universal, 

and implicate liability for FIRST BANK: 

- regularly required and expected to remain in assigned FIRST BANK branches to assist in 

activities of the bank and not allowed at least more than 50% of their daily worktime to 

work away from the premises of FIRST BANK; 

- required to attend in-branch meetings and to remain in the branch even though new loan 

processing required meeting with and obtaining necessary information/documentation 

from loan applicants, which also undermined the HLCs’ ability to engage in sales activity 

away from the employer’s premises; 

- encouraged and expected to pay money out of their own commissions without complete 

non-taxed reimbursement for overnight lodging, mileage, parking, tolls, travel, meals, 

entertainment, and client gifts/marketing materials that provided to aid and encourage 

customers to become FIRST BANK clients; 

- in fact impeded from engaging in activities away from FIRST BANK facilities with 

monthly and quarterly meetings and events done for the benefit of bank branch managers 

and supervisors, that had either no or minimal prospects for generating new business or 

clients and usually held at FIRST BANK premises convenient for supervisors or 

management; 

- expected to work anywhere from 10 plus hours per day and between 55-60 (or more) hours 

per week, and were not paid minimum wages, regular wages, or overtime wages for hours 

worked in excess of 8 hours per day and/or 40 hours per week; 

- offered a taxable stipend of $50 per month to use their home internet, equipment (hands 

free), and personal smartphones when in fact the general amount to procure and service all 

necessary equipment for FIRST BANK mortgage processing was in excess of $200 per 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 
 - 10 - 
First Amended Class Action and PAGA Complaint                               Case No. 30-34-2017-00223939 

 

 
C

O
H

E
L

A
N

 K
H

O
U

R
Y

 &
 S

IN
G

E
R

 

6
0

5
 C

 S
T

R
E

E
T

, 
S

U
IT

E
 2

0
0

 

S
an

 D
ie

g
o

, 
C

A
 9

2
1

0
1

 

  
month, with necessary small tool and equipment costs in addition to the monthly payments 

for services; 

- required to use their personal vehicles without reimbursements for any intraday mileage, 

tolls, or parking; 

- never paid based on their “hours worked” and spent anywhere from 75% to 80% (or more) 

of a traditional workweek inside FIRST BANK branch offices; 

- not provided any 30-minute, off-duty uninterrupted meal periods before the end of their 

fifth hour of work and were never paid an hour of pay for any non-compliant meal periods; 

- not provided any 10-minute, paid rest periods for every approximate 4 hours worked (or 

any major fraction thereof) and were never paid an hour of pay for non-compliant rest 

periods;                                                  

- subject to FIRST BANK’s practice of not keeping track of, as required by law, the number 

of hours worked, the amounts of pay and corresponding rates, or all on-duty time; and  

- not timely paid all wages due as non-exempt employees during the time proscribed by 

Labor Code sections 201-204, and all formerly-employed HLCs (like Plaintiff) were not 

paid all wages due in a timely manner for terminated or separated employees. 

41. Plaintiff CASTRO and other “Home Loan Consultants” were paid on a commission 

basis with a monthly draw against future commissions and were not paid a salary or hourly pay.   

42. The result of the system in place at FIRST BANK is that Plaintiff CASTRO and the 

proposed Class work excessive hours for less than minimum wage as commissions do not cover 

the amount of hours worked to satisfy any exemption from the presumption that employees are 

entitled to hourly pay and overtime wages.  

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

43. Plaintiffs brings this action on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated 

as a Class Action pursuant to Section 382 of the Code of Civil Procedure.  

44. Plaintiffs seeks to represent a class composed of and defined as follows:  

Plaintiff Class: 

All of Defendants’ California-based employees who at any time four 

years prior to the filing of this action through the date of trial (“Relevant 

Time Period”) held the job title of “Home Loan Consultant” (“HLC”) 

and who were classified as exempt “outside sales” employees subject to 

Defendants’ “Home Loan Consultant Compensation Plan.” 

/// 

/// 
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45. Plaintiffs also seek to represent the following subclasses composed of and defined 

as follows: 

Unreimbursed Expense Subclass:  

All members of the Plaintiff Class who, during the Relevant Time 

Period, were not reimbursed for reasonable and necessary expenses for 

maintaining a home office to conduct work required by Defendants 

and/or were not reimbursed for mileage, meals, and entertainment 

expenses associated with meetings with clients and/or commuting 

between branch locations during the same workday. 

 

Minimum Wage Subclass:  

All members of the Plaintiff Class who, during the Relevant Time 

Period, failed to receive pay sufficient to satisfy minimum wage for all 

hours worked. 

Overtime Subclass:  

All members of the Plaintiff Class who, during the Relevant Time 

Period, worked in excess of eight (8) hours per day and/or in excess of 

forty (40) hours per week, and who did not receive overtime pay at the 

requisite overtime rate of pay. 

Meal and Rest Period Subclass:   

All members of the Plaintiff Class who, during the Relevant Time 

Period, were not provided off-duty, unpaid 30-minute meal periods 

before the end of the fifth hour worked, or who were not provided off-

duty, paid 10-minute rest periods for approximately every 4 hours 

worked (or every major fraction thereof), nor were provided with at least 

one hour of “premium pay” at the employees’ regular rate of pay for 

each non-compliant meal or rest period per day worked exceeding at 

least 5 hours per day. 

 

Wage Statement Subclass:  

All members of the Plaintiff Class who, during the applicable statute of 

limitations period, did not receive accurate itemized Wage statements as 

required by Labor Code section 226. 

Recordkeeping Subclass:  

All members of the Plaintiff Class who, during the applicable statutory 

period, suffered harm as a result of Defendants’ failure to maintain 

proper and required records of their employees. 

Waiting Time Subclass:  

All members of the Plaintiff Class who, during the applicable limitations 

period, did not receive all wages due in a timely manner as required by 

Labor Code sections 201-204. 
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UCL Subclass:  

All members of the Plaintiff Class who, during the Relevant Time 

Period, are owed restitution in the form of (1) unreimbursed expenses 

and/or (2) wages earned and unpaid as a result of Defendants’ uniform 

pay policies and procedures. 

46. Plaintiffs reserve the right under the California Rules of Court to amend or modify 

the class description with greater specificity or further division into subclasses or limitation to 

particular issues. 

47. This action is brought and may properly be maintained as a Class Action under the 

provisions of Section 382 of the Code of Civil Procedure because there is a well-defined 

community of interest in the litigation and the proposed Class is easily ascertainable. 

A. Numerosity 

48. The potential members of the Plaintiff Class as defined are so numerous or many, 

that joinder of all the members of the Plaintiff Class is impracticable. Plaintiffs are informed and 

believe that the number of HLCs working in the State of California during the Relevant Time 

Period is in excess of 50 persons, but less than 100. 

49. While the precise number of Class Members has not been determined at the time, 

Plaintiffs are informe, believe, and on that basis allege, that Defendants currently employ, and 

during the relevant time periods employed, over 100 Class Members. 

50. Accounting for employee turnover during the relevant periods necessarily increases 

the number substantially.   

B. Commonality and Predominance of Factual and Legal Issues 

51. There are questions of law and fact common to the Plaintiff Class that predominate 

over any questions affecting only individual Class Members. In essence, Defendants’ systematic 

classification of HLCs as outside sales while requiring more that 50% of their work time to remain 

on bank premises abrogates the exemption and results in the liability for payment of all hours 

worked, overtime, and provisions of compliant meal and rest periods. All other claims are 

derivative of the common and predominate issue as to whether the FIRST BANK engaged in 

improper classification of the HLCs as “outside sales” exempt when in fact they were not. 

/// 
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52. Common questions of law and fact include, without limitation and subject to 

possible further amendment, the following: 

(a) Whether Defendants are required to reimburse employees for equipment, 

services, travel expenses such as mileage, meal, and entertainment 

expenses, and supplies they required Class Members to incur; 

(b) Whether Defendants required Class Members to work regular hours for 

which Class Members were not fully compensated; 

(c) Whether Defendants required Class Members to work overtime hours for 

which Class Members were not fully compensated;  

(d) Whether Defendants required Class Members to work double overtime 

hours for which Class Members were not fully compensated; 

(e) Whether Defendants provided compliant meal and/or rest periods as 

required by Labor Code sections 226.7, 512(a) and/or applicable IWC 

Wage Order sections 11-12; 

(f) Whether Defendants violated California Labor Code section 226;  

(g) Whether Defendants promptly paid all wages owed to Class Members 

after the termination of the Class Members’ employment; 

(h) Whether Defendants violated California Labor Code sections 1174, 

1174.5, and Wage Order No. 4-2001, section 7 by failing to maintain 

required records;  

(i) Whether Defendants engaged in unfair, deceptive and/or unlawful 

practices that violated the Unfair Competition Law sections 17200, et 

seq.; 

(j) Whether Defendants are subject to penalties under California Labor Code 

section 558; and 

(k) Whether Defendants are subject to penalties under California Labor Code 

section 2699(f)(2). 

/// 
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C. Typicality 

53. Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the Plaintiff Class because Plaintiffs 

and all members of the proposed Plaintiff Class and subclasses sustained similar injuries and 

damages arising out of and caused by Defendants’ common course of conduct and policies in 

violation of laws, regulations that have the force and effect of law and statutes as alleged herein. 

D. Adequacy of Representation 

54. Plaintiffs do not have any conflicts of interest with other Class Members, and will 

prosecute the case vigorously on behalf of the Plaintiff Class.  

55. Counsel representing Plaintiffs and the putative Class are competent and 

experienced in litigating employment class actions, including wage and overtime class actions.   

56. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the 

Plaintiff Class Members and has no interests adverse to the proposed Plaintiff Class and 

Subclasses. 

E. Superiority of Class Action and Manageability 

57. A class action is superior to other available means for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of the controversy because individual joinder of all Class Members is not practicable, 

and questions of law and fact common to the Plaintiff Class predominate over any questions 

affecting only individual members of the Plaintiff Class.  

58. Each Class Member has been damaged or suffered injury and is entitled to recovery 

because of Defendants’ illegal policies and/or practices.   

59. Class Action treatment will allow those similarly situated persons to litigate their 

claims in the manner that is most efficient and economical for the parties and the judicial system.  

60. Plaintiffs are unaware of any difficulties that are likely to be encountered in the 

management of this action that would preclude maintenance as a Class Action. 

61. At the appropriate time, Plaintiffs will present a trial methodology and plan that 

will streamline the action, base liability and damages on common evidence and common modes of 

proof through Defendants’ corporate records, testimony of corporate common policy and 

practices, representative evidence, sampled and presented in a manner consistent with recognized 
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scientific and statistical principles. Such methodology likely includes bifurcation of liability and 

damages, the use of professionally administered survey evidence, seeking adjudication of class-

wide legal issues of particular claims or preliminary factual issues and other methods and 

proposals to manage class-wide determinations common to all persons in the proposed Plaintiff 

Class. 

CAUSES OF ACTION 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

Failure to Indemnify/Reimburse Business Expenses in Violation of  

California Labor Code § 2802 

(By Plaintiffs and the Unreimbursed Expense Subclass as Against All Defendants) 

62. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by this reference each of the foregoing 

allegations, as though fully set forth herein. 

63. California Labor Code section 2802 requires employers to indemnify their 

employees for expenses and losses incurred while discharging their duties or obedience to the 

directions of their employer.  

64. California Labor Code section 2804 mandates that this statutory right cannot be 

waived. 

65. Plaintiffs and the Unreimbursed Expense Subclass Members incurred losses in 

obedience to the directions of Defendants. This included home offices expenses, office supplies, 

pens, paper, printer, internet, and other similar expenses. Defendants maintained no policy of 

reimbursement of such expenses, and refused to reimburse said expenses even though the 

employer knew of and required work to be performed at home by HLC employees. 

66. Plaintiffs and Plaintiff Class Members were required to purchase and provide their 

own equipment, services, and supplies in order to work for Defendants. Some examples of 

expenses include:    

- Required high speed cable or DSL internet at home to process documents and loan 

applications and underwriting at approximately $130.00 per month; 

- Personal Smart Phone at $400-$600, with monthly charges of $75.00 per month; 

- Printer cost of $350.00; 
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- Scanner cost of $175.00; 

- Ink/Toner costs of approximately $40.00 per month or about $80.00 every three months; 

and 

- Miscellaneous home office supplies and paper costs at approximately $50.00 per month; 

67. Furthermore, because Plaintiffs and Plaintiff Class Members were often required to 

travel to meet customers or prospective customers, and pay for customers or prospective 

customers’ meals, Plaintiffs and Plaintiff Class Members incurred to their detriment meal and 

entertainment, mileage, and other travel expenses, in amounts according to proof. 

68. Also, because all underwriting was done in Missouri, in the central time zone, all 

California HLCs had to have a home office and engage with underwriting in the early morning 

hours before any branch-office was available. No home office expenses were ever considered to 

be reimbursed and there was no policy to request reimbursement. The policy was pay to play. 

69. As a direct result of Defendants’ violation of California Labor Code section 2802, 

Plaintiffs suffered substantial losses related to unpaid expenses, the use and enjoyment of monies 

owed, lost interest on monies owed, and attorneys’ fees in an amount to be proven at the time of 

trial. 

70. Defendants derive an unjust and inequitable economic benefit in failing to comply 

with the law regarding indemnification and reimbursement of employees.  

71. For Defendants’ violations of California Labor Code section 2802, Plaintiffs are 

entitled to and hereby seeks back-owed reimbursement for equipment, services, supplies, office 

space, products, and mileage/travel expenses, interest, statutory and equitable attorneys’ fees, 

costs, and applicable penalties in an amount to be proven at trial. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

Failure to Pay Regular and/or Minimum Wages in Violation of 

California Labor Code §§ 218.5, 1182.12, 1194, 

1194.2, 1197, and Wage Order No. 4-2001 § 4(A) 

(By Plaintiff CASTRO and the Minimum Wage Subclass as Against All Defendants) 

72. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by this reference each of the foregoing 

allegations, as though fully set forth herein. 

/// 
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73. Pursuant to Labor Code sections 218.5, 1182.12, 1194, 1194.2, and 1197, it is 

unlawful for a California employer to suffer or permit an employee to work without paying wages 

for all hours worked, as required by the applicable Industrial Welfare Commission (“IWC”) Wage 

Order. 

74. During all times relevant, IWC Wage Order No. 4-2001, governing the 

“Professional, Technical, Clerical, Mechanical and Similar Occupations” industry, applied to 

Plaintiff and the Plaintiff Class Members’ employment with Defendants. 

75. Pursuant to Wage Order 4, section 2(K), “hours worked” include the time during 

which an employee is “suffered or permitted to work, whether or not required to do so.” 

76. During all times relevant, Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff Class Members, 

including Plaintiff, the minimum wages owed for all hours suffered or permitted to work in 

violation of the minimum wage provisions of California Labor Code sections 1182.12, 1194, 

1194.2, and 1197-1197.1, and IWC Wage Order No. 4-2001, section 4 (A). 

77. Labor Code section 1194.2, subdivision (a) provides that, in an action to recover 

wages because of the payment of a wage less than the minimum wage fixed by IWC Wage Orders, 

an employee is entitled to recover liquidated damages in an amount equal to the wages unlawfully 

unpaid and interest thereon. 

78. Plaintiff Class Members, including Plaintiff, should have received minimum wages 

in a sum according to proof during all times relevant to this action.   

79. Defendants intentionally and willfully failed and refused, and continue to fail and 

refuse, to pay Plaintiff Class Members, including Plaintiff, minimum wages for all time suffered 

or permitted to work.    

80. Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the Plaintiff Class, requests the recovery of the 

unpaid minimum wage; including liquidated damages; interest, attorneys’ fees; and costs in an 

amount to be determined at trial. 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

Failure to Pay Overtime Compensation in Violation of  

California Labor Code §§510 and 1194, and Wage Order No. 4-2001, § 3(A) 

(By Plaintiff CASTRO and the Overtime Subclass as Against All Defendants) 

81. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by this reference each of the foregoing 

allegations, as though fully set forth herein. 

82. California law requires an employer to pay each employee accurately. If hourly, the 

employer is required to compensate the employee for the actual hours worked. (See Cal. Labor 

Code § 226.)   

83. For each hour (or fraction thereof) an employee works up to forty (40) hours in a 

week and eight (8) hours in a day, the employer must pay the employee’s regular hourly wage.   

84. For each hour (or fraction thereof) an employee works over forty (40) hours in a 

week or in excess of eight (8) hours in a workday, the employer must pay the rate of one and a half 

times the employee’s regular hourly wage. 

85. For each hour (or fraction thereof) an employee works in excess of twelve (12) 

hour in one day or in excess of eight (8) hours a day on the seventh consecutive day of work, the 

employee must be compensated at the rate of no less than twice the regular rate of pay for that 

employee.   

86. During all times relevant, Plaintiff and Plaintiff Class Members worked countless 

hours for which they were not properly compensated because of Defendants’ willfully unlawful 

policies regarding counting regular and overtime hours worked. Plaintiff estimates that he worked, 

at times, 72-90 hours per week and had no break periods, and was always required to take calls 

anywhere from 12-14 hours per day. All HLCs had substantially similar obligations to remain in 

the branch offices and not able to spend more than 50% of their hours worked out seeking new 

business.   

87. Plaintiff and Class Members worked more than eight (8) hours a day and/or forty 

(40) hours a week, sometimes working for seven or more consecutive dates often without payment 

of legally mandated overtime compensation.   

/// 
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88. Plaintiff and Class members are entitled to recover the full amount of their unpaid 

regular, overtime, and double overtime wages; interest; applicable penalties, including but not 

limited to penalties under California Labor Code Sections 1194 and attorneys’ fees and costs in an 

amount to be determined at trial. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Failure To Provide Meal Periods Or Compensation In Lieu Thereof in Violation of Labor 

Code §§ 226.7, 512, and IWC Wage Order 4-2001, § 11 

(By Plaintiff CASTRO and the Meal Period Subclass as Against all Defendants) 

89. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by this reference each of the foregoing 

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

90. Defendants unfairly and illegally failed to provide Plaintiff and members of the 

“Meal Period Subclass” with sufficient and compliant meal periods as required by Labor Code 

sections 226.7, 512, and IWC Wage Order 4-2001, section 11. On a daily basis, Plaintiff was 

required to drive miles to job locations at extreme distances without a meal period. On the 

occasions Plaintiff has able to take a meal period, he was required to be on duty at all times to 

return to work if summoned by a manager. Plaintiff observed all others doing the same. By 

requiring Plaintiff and members of the Plaintiff Class to work periods exceeding five hours 

without an uninterrupted, off-duty 30-minute meal period and to work periods exceeding ten 

hours without a second uninterrupted, off-duty 30-minute meal period, and not compensating one 

hour of pay at their regular rate of compensation for each such occurrence, Defendants violated 

the provisions of Labor Code sections 226.7, 512, and IWC Wage Order No. 4-2001. 

91. Pursuant to Labor Code sections 226.7 and 512, the Plaintiff Class Members seek 

the payment of all meal period compensation owed, according to proof. For purposes of class 

certification, Plaintiff can show that Defendants had a consistent pattern and practice of not 

providing meal periods to members of the proposed Meal Period Subclass, and never paid a 

“premium wage” for missed, late, or interrupted meal periods, as is otherwise required by IWC 

Wage Orders and applicable law and regulation. 

92. Additionally, Plaintiff and Plaintiff Class Members are entitled to attorneys’ fees, 

costs, and prejudgment interest as permitted by statute and by law. 
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FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Failure To Provide Rest Periods Or Compensation In Lieu Thereof in Violation of Labor 

Code Section § 226.7, IWC Wage Order 4-2001, § 12] 

(By Plaintiff CASTRO and the Rest Period Subclass as Against all Defendants) 

93. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by this reference each of the foregoing 

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

94. Defendants unfairly and illegally failed to provide Plaintiff and members of the 

“Rest Period Subclass” with sufficient and compliant rest periods as required by Labor Code 

section 226.7 and IWC Wage Order 4-2001, section 12. On a daily basis, Plaintiff was not 

authorized or permitted to take 10-minute paid rest breaks for every four hours or major fraction 

thereof worked and to the extent any “rest break” was authorized, Plaintiff and the Plaintiff Class 

were subject to employer control by being required to be immediately available by cell phone.  

Plaintiff observed all others doing the same. No time was allotted for 10-minute paid rest periods 

free from all duties for approximately every four hours or major fraction thereof worked. Since 

Defendants classified Plaintiff as exempt, the managers simply stated that 10-minute paid rest 

periods were not required. By requiring Plaintiff and members of the Rest Period Subclass to 

work periods exceeding four hours without an uninterrupted, off-duty 10-minute rest period, and 

not compensating one hour of pay at their regular rate of compensation for each such occurrence, 

Defendants willfully violated the provisions of Labor Code section 226.7 and IWC Wage Order 

No. 4-2001, section 12. 

95. Plaintiff, and the Plaintiff Class Members he seeks to represent, did not willfully 

waive through mutual consent with Defendants such rest periods. Plaintiff and Plaintiff Class 

Members are entitled to an hour of pay for each day that Defendants failed to properly provide 

one or more rest periods as set forth in the IWC wage orders, in an amount according to proof.  

Pursuant to Labor Code section 226.7, the Plaintiff Class Members seek the payment of all rest 

period compensation which they are owed according to proof.  

96. Additionally, Plaintiff and members of the Plaintiff Class are entitled to attorneys’ 

fees, costs, and prejudgment interest as permitted by statute. 

/// 
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SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Failure to Make Payments Within the Required Time in Violation of  

Labor Code §§ 201, 202, and 204 and Penalties Pursuant to Labor Code § 203 

(By Plaintiff CASTRO and the Waiting Time Subclass as Against All Defendants) 

97. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by this reference each of the foregoing 

allegations, as though fully set forth herein. 

98. California Labor Code section 204 requires employers to pay employees all wages 

earned and unpaid, without abatement or reduction, at least twice a month. 

99. California Labor Code section 201 requires employers to immediately pay wages, 

without abatement or reduction, to any employee who is discharged.   

100. Similarly, California Labor Code section 202 requires employers to pay all wages 

earned and unpaid, without abatement or reduction, no later than 72 hours after receiving an 

employee’s notice of intent to quit or immediately at the time of quitting if the employee provided 

at least 72 hours’ notice of intent to quit. 

101. If an employer fails to pay wages owed, as a penalty California Labor Code section 

203 mandates that an employer owes to the employee continuing wages after discharge until the 

employer pays the originally owed wages or until an action to recover the wages is commenced, 

not to exceed 30 days of continuing wages.   

102. As a pattern and practice, Defendants failed to provide all wages due and owing, 

including regular, overtime, and double overtime wages to the Plaintiff and the Plaintiff Class by 

the time specified by law.   

103. Defendants owe the Plaintiff and the Plaintiff Class Members payment of earned 

wages and a waiting time penalty in an amount to be determined at trial exceeding the 

jurisdictional minimum of this Court.   

104. For Defendants’ violations, Plaintiff and the Class Members also seek applicable 

penalties, including but not limited to penalties under California Labor Code sections 203 and 210 

plus interest under California Labor Code section 218.6; and reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs 

under California Labor Code sections 203 and 218.5. 

/// 
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SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Failure to Provide Accurate Wage Statements in Violation of  

California Labor Code § 226 

(By Plaintiff CASTRO and the Wage Statement Subclass as Against All Defendants) 

105. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by this reference each of the foregoing 

allegations, as though fully set forth herein. 

106. Plaintiff alleges that Labor Code section 226 subdivision (a) requires, in pertinent 

part, that “Every employer shall, semimonthly or at the time of each payment of wages, furnish 

each of his or her employees, either as a detachable part of the check, draft, or voucher paying the 

employee's wages, or separately when wages are paid by personal check or cash, an accurate 

itemized statement in writing showing (1) gross wages earned, (2) total hours worked by the 

employee, except for any employee whose compensation is solely based on a salary and who is 

exempt from payment of overtime under subdivision (a) of § 515 or any applicable order of the 

Industrial Welfare Commission, (3) the number of piece-rate units earned and any applicable piece 

rate if the employee is paid on a piece-rate basis, (4) all deductions, provided that all deductions 

made on written orders of the employee may be aggregated and shown as one item, (5) net wages 

earned, (6) the inclusive dates of the period for which the employee is paid, (7) the name of the 

employee and only the last four digits of his or her social security number … , (8) the name and 

address of the legal entity that is the employer … , and (9) all applicable hourly rates in effect 

during the pay period and the corresponding number of hours worked at each hourly rate by the 

employee. . .”  (Labor Code § 226, subdivision (a).)  

107. Upon information and belief, during all times relevant to this action, Defendants 

did not provide accurate wage statements to Plaintiff.   

108. Defendants did not record or track time worked and knew or should have known 

that Plaintiff and members of the Plaintiff Class were working sufficient hours without sales 

activity that the exemption from the requirement to track hours worked under applicable Wage 

Order was not implicated.  

/// 

/// 
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109. As a result, the failure on the part of the Defendants to provide accurate itemized 

wage statements was knowing and intentional as that term is defined by the Department of Labor 

Standards Enforcement (“DLSE”). 

110. Plaintiff alleges that on various occasions, an exact amount by which will be 

proven at trial, Defendants violated various provisions of section 226, including but not limited to 

subdivisions (a)(1), (a)(2), (a)(4), (a)(5), (a)(6), and (a)(9) by failing to provide Plaintiff accurate 

itemized statement in writing accurately showing gross wages earned, net wages earned, among 

other things, due, in part, to Defendants’ illegal actions as alleged in this Complaint. 

111. For Defendants’ misconduct as alleged in this Complaint, Plaintiff seeks damages, 

injunctive relief, penalties, costs, and attorneys’ fees pursuant to Labor Code sections 226 and 

226.3 in an amount to be proven at trial.    

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Failure to Maintain Required Records in Violation of 

California Labor Code §§ 1174, 1174.5, 1198, and Wage Order No. 4, § 7 

(By Plaintiff CASTRO and the Recordkeeping Subclass as Against All Defendants) 

112. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by this reference each of the foregoing 

allegations, as though fully set forth herein. 

113. At all times relevant herein, IWC Wage Order No. 4, section 7 requires every 

employer to maintain payroll records. 

114. Labor Code section 1174 requires every employer to maintain payroll records.  

115. Labor Code section 1198 states, “The maximum hours of work and the standard 

conditions of labor fixed by the commission shall be the maximum hours of work and the standard 

conditions of labor for employees. The employment of any employee for longer hours than those 

fixed by the order or under conditions of labor prohibited by the order is unlawful.” 

116. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that during all times 

relevant, Defendants failed to comply with section 7 of IWC Order 4-2001 and with Labor Code 

sections 1174 and 1198 by failing to maintain certain records which employers are required to 

maintain, including but not limited to, all wage and earning statements, reimbursement records, 

among other things.   
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117. Plaintiff and members of the Recordkeeping Subclass suffered harm as a result of 

Defendants’ failure to maintain usual and customary records in an amount according to proof.    

118. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff and the Plaintiff 

Class will require the need for experts and other alternative means of proof in order to establish 

liability and damages. 

119. For the reasons alleged herein, Plaintiff seeks any and all available remedies in an 

amount to be proven at trial including but not limited to damages, penalties, attorneys’ fees and 

costs, and interest pursuant to law including but not limited to Labor Code section 1174.5.  

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violations of California Business and Professions Code §§ 17200, et seq. 

(Plaintiffs and the UCL Subclass as Against All Defendants) 

120. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by this reference each of the foregoing 

allegations, as though fully set forth herein. 

121. California Business and Professions Code sections 17200, et seq., commonly 

referred as the Unfair Competition Law (“UCL”), prohibits “any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent 

business act or practice.”   

122. Unlawful business acts are those acts which are in violation of any federal, state, or 

municipal statutes or codes, as well as state and federal regulations. 

123. It is fraudulent and unfair for Defendants to not accurately pay their employees for 

hours worked and provide expense reimbursements for reasonable and necessary costs of 

performing services for FIRST BANK.   

124. Defendants misled and unfairly took advantage of their employees by mandating 

that employees work hours or make purchases for which they unlawfully will not be paid or 

reimbursed.  

125. Defendants maintained an unfair business advantage over their competitors, who 

comply with their employment obligations.   

126. Defendants’ conduct offends public policy, is immoral, unscrupulous, unethical and 

offensive, and causes substantial injury to their employees and the public. 

/// 
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127. Defendants’ practices are also unlawful and violate each of the preceding alleged 

statutes, regulations and wage orders.   

128. As elaborated above Defendants’ failure to pay their employees’ wages/expenses 

properly and their failure to keep accurate wage statements violates many provisions of the 

California Labor Code. 

129. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unfair competition in violation of 

the UCL, Plaintiffs and the UCL Subclass have suffered injury and in fact and lost money, and the 

members of the Plaintiff Class are owed restitution in sums exceeding the jurisdictional minimum 

of this Court, in an amount according to proof. 

130. Plaintiffs did not receive the wages/reimbursements that he earned/incurred. 

Plaintiffs request this Court order, as it is empowered to order, restitution to all persons from 

whom Defendants unfairly and/or unlawfully withheld money, whether in the form of wages or in 

the form of unreimbursed business expenses incurred by Plaintiffs and the Plaintiff Class for the 

benefit of the Defendants. 

131. Defendants’ unfair competition in violation of the UCL also presents a continuing 

threat to Defendants’ workforce and members of the general public in that Defendants are 

continuing, and will continue, unless enjoined, to commit unlawful, unfair, and/or fraudulent 

business acts or practices.   

132. Plaintiffs request that this Court order a preliminary and permanent injunction 

against such acts and practices. 

133. Plaintiffs seek recovery of all attorneys’ fees and litigation expenses pursuant to 

California Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5 or any other applicable laws.  

134. Plaintiffs also seek recovery of all attorneys’ fees and other litigation expenses paid 

under the common fund doctrine or other authority requiring Defendants to pay Plaintiffs’ 

attorneys’ fees and litigation expenses. 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

For Recovery of PAGA Civil Penalties on Behalf of Plaintiffs and all Similarly “Aggrieved 

Employees” as a Representative of the LWDA, Pursuant to Labor Code § 2699(F)(2) Based 

on Defendants’ Failure to Comply With Labor Code § 2802 

135. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by this reference each of the foregoing 

allegations, as though fully set forth herein. 

136.  Defendants were required by law to reimburse all reasonable and necessary 

business expenses incurred by Plaintiffs and other aggrieved employees that were necessary to 

accomplish Defendants’ business goals. 

137. Defendants’ uniform and systematic policies placed costs of doing business on the 

Plaintiffs and other aggrieved employees during the proposed “PAGA Period” which is defined 

from at least one year prior to the date of the LWDA Notice Letter (Exhibit 1) to the present. In 

fact, Defendants explicitly told Plaintiffs and other HLCs that they expected them to spend their 

own money to earn money for the Bank. 

138. Such policies and practices violate Labor Code section 2802-2804 in that 

Defendants were unlawfully forcing the employees to pay for the costs of engaging in Defendants’ 

business. 

139. Labor Code section 2802 is a statute specifically listed in Labor Code section 

2699.5 as a statute for which default civil penalties may be recovered under Labor Code section 

2699(f)(2). That section provides: “(f) For all provisions of this code except those for which a civil 

penalty is specifically provided, there is established a civil penalty for a violation of these 

provisions, as follows: … (2) If, at the time of the alleged violation, the person employs one or 

more employees, the civil penalty is one hundred dollars ($100) for each aggrieved employee per 

pay period for the initial violation and two hundred dollars ($200) for each aggrieved employee 

per pay period for each subsequent violation.” 

140. Depending on the number of pay periods during the PAGA Period for each 

aggrieved employee in the State of California where employees incurred expenses on behalf and at 

the bequest of the Defendants, Plaintiffs will seek civil penalties in an amount according to proof 

and subject to Court approval. 
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141. Plaintiffs also allege that he is entitled to reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs 

pursuant to California Labor Code section 2699(g)(1) and/or Code of Civil Procedure section 

1021.5, in an amount according to proof and subject to Court approval.  

ELEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

For Recovery of PAGA Civil Penalties on Behalf of Plaintiff CASTRO and all Similarly 

“Aggrieved Employees” as a Representative of the LWDA, Pursuant to Labor Code § 

2699(f)(2) Based on Defendants’ Failure to Comply With Labor Code §§ 1182.12, 1194, 

1194.2, 1197-1197.1, and Wage Order No. 4-2001, § 4(A) 

142. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by this reference each of the foregoing 

allegations, as though fully set forth herein. 

143. Based on FIRST BANK’s unlawful systematic classification of HLCs as exempt 

outside sales, Defendants are also liable for PAGA civil penalties in addition to wages. 

144. Plaintiff seeks to recover civil penalties pursuant to the PAGA that arise from the 

policies, practices, and business acts of Defendants to the extent provided by law as a 

Representative Action, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, and underpayment of wages 

as permitted by Cal. Labor Code sections 558 and 1197.1, as a separate penalty provided by the 

PAGA statute. 

145. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ unlawful conduct, as alleged 

herein, Plaintiff and similarly-aggrieved HLCs have been deprived, and continue to be deprived, 

of earned regular pay and mandated minimum wages for regular hours worked each and every pay 

period that they remain misclassified. 

146. Accordingly, Defendants violated Labor Code sections 510, 558, 1194, 1194.2, and 

1197.1, in addition to IWC Wage Order 4-2001. Labor Code section 2699.5 enumerates each of 

these statutes for default civil penalties under Labor Code section 2699(f)(2). To the extent the 

Defendants violate Sections 1, 7. 9, and 11-12 of the applicable IWC Wage Order 4-2001, 

additional civil penalties are imposed pursuant to Labor Code section 558(a)(1) in the amount of 

$50 for each initial violation per pay period and another $100 per subsequent violation in each pay 

period thereafter. The nature, extent, and amount of civil penalties for which Defendants are liable 

is presently unknown but can be calculated based on pay period and work week data for 

ascertainable and identifiable “aggrieved employees” who provide home loan services to 
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Defendants’ customers. 

147. Labor Code section 2699.5 lists Labor Code sections 510, 558, 1194, 1194.2, and 

1197.1 as statutes for which default civil penalties may be recovered under Labor Code section 

2699(f)(2). 

148. Civil penalties may be recoverable pursuant to Labor Code section 2699(f)(2) 

which states in pertinent part: “(a) Any employer or other person acting on behalf of an employer 

who violates, or causes to be violated, a section of this chapter or any provision regulating hours 

and days of work in any order of the Industrial Welfare Commission shall be subject to a civil 

penalty as follows:. . . (2) For each subsequent violation, one hundred dollars ($100) for each 

underpaid employee for each pay period for which the employee was underpaid in addition to an 

amount sufficient to recover underpaid wages.” 

149. To the extent Plaintiff and other potentially aggrieved employees have been 

impacted, Plaintiff is entitled to recover civil penalties on behalf of the LWDA and also to seek 

reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs in accordance with Labor Code section 2699(g) and/or 

California Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5, subject to court approval. 

TWELFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

For Recovery of PAGA Civil Penalties on Behalf of Plaintiff CASTRO and all Similarly 

“Aggrieved Employees” as a Representative of the LWDA, pursuant to Labor Code § 

2699(f)(2) Based on Defendants’ Failure to Comply With Labor Code §§ 226.7 and 512, and 

IWC Wage Order 4-2001, §§ 11-12 

150. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by this reference each of the foregoing 

allegations, as though fully set forth herein. 

151. California Labor Code section 512(a) provides: 

(a) An employer may not employ an employee for a work period of 

more than five hours per day without providing the employee with a 

meal period of not less than 30 minutes, except that if the total work 

period per day of the employee is no more than six hours, the meal 

period may be waived by mutual consent of both the employer and 

employee. An employer may not employ an employee for a work 

period of more than 10 hours per day without providing the employee 

with a second meal period of not less than 30 minutes, except that if the 

total hours worked is no more than 12 hours, the second meal period 

may be waived by mutual consent of the employer and the employee 

only if the first meal period was not waived.” 
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152. California Labor Code section 226.7 provides in pertinent part:  “(b) An employer 

shall not require an employee to work during a meal or rest or recovery period mandated pursuant 

to an applicable statute, or applicable regulation, standard, or order of the Industrial Welfare 

Commission… (c) If an employer fails to provide an employee a meal or rest or recovery period in 

accordance with a state law, including, but not limited to, an applicable statute or applicable 

regulation, standard, or order of the Industrial Welfare Commission, . . .the employer shall pay the 

employee one additional hour of pay at the employee’s regular rate of compensation for each 

workday that the meal or rest or recovery period is not provided.” 

153. Labor Code section 226.7 and 512 are statutes identified by Labor Code section 

2699.5, and are subject to default civil penalties as identified in Labor Code 2699(f)(2) for each 

pay period for each aggrieved HLC during the PAGA Period. 

154. IWC Wage Order 4-2001, sections 11-12, also possess the force and impact of law 

and set for the requirements that all non-exempt employees be provided timely, unimpeded, 

uninterrupted, and duty-free meal and rest periods. Labor Code section 558(a) requires that 

violations of these regulations are also subject to civil penalties for each pay period for each 

aggrieved HLC during the PAGA Period for each pay period, with the initial violation penalty at 

$50 per employee pay period, and $100 for each subsequent violation per employee per pay 

period. 

155. Accordingly, Plaintiff as Representative of the LWDA, will seek recovery of all 

PAGA civil penalties under Labor Code section 2699(f)(2) and/or Labor Code section 558(a), in 

an amount according to proof and subject to Court approval. 

156. As a proximate result of Defendants’ conduct described herein, the Defendants are 

liable, jointly and severally, for PAGA penalties resulting from their failure to provide Plaintiff 

and similarly-aggrieved HLCs lawful meal and rest periods and the corresponding meal and rest 

period premium pay. Accordingly, Plaintiff is entitled to recover, and hereby seeks through this 

Representative Action, all civil penalties provided by California Labor Code sections 226.7, 512, 

and 558, as well as attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to California Labor Code section 2699(g)(1).  

/// 
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157. Plaintiff is also entitled to seek reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, in accordance 

with Labor Code section 2699(g), Labor Code section 218.5, Code of Civil Procedure section 

1021.5, and as otherwise permitted by applicable law, in an amount according to proof and subject 

to court approval. 

THIRTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
For Recovery of PAGA Civil Penalties on Behalf of Plaintiff CASTRO and all Similarly 
“Aggrieved Employees” as a Representative of the LWDA, pursuant to Labor Code § 

2699(f)(2) and as permitted by Labor Code §§ 203, 210, and 256 for Untimely Separation 
Pay 

158. Plaintifdf re-allege and incorporate by this reference each of the foregoing 

allegations, as though fully set forth herein. 

159. Labor Code section 200 defines “wages” as “all amounts for labor performed by 

employees of every description, whether the amount is fixed or ascertained by the standard of 

time, task, piece, commission basis, or other method of calculation.” 

160. Labor Code section 204(a) states that all wages earned by a person are due and 

payable twice during each calendar month, and further states that wages earned during the first 

through fifteenth days of the month must be paid no later than the twenty-sixth day of the month, 

and that wages earned between the sixteenth and last day of the month must be paid by the tenth 

day of the following month. Labor Code section 204(d) states “[t]he requirements of this section 

shall be deemed satisfied by the payment of wages for weekly, biweekly, or semimonthly payroll 

if the wages are paid not more than seven calendar days following the close of the payroll period.” 

161. Labor Code section 201 requires that the employer immediately pay any wages, 

without abatement or reduction, to any employee who is discharged. 

162. Labor Code section 202 requires that the employer pay all wages earned and 

unpaid, without abatement or reduction, no later than 72 hours of receiving an employee’s notice 

of intent to quit or immediately at the time of quitting if at least a 72-hour notice was provided. 

163. Labor Code section 203 provides in pertinent part: “(a) If an employer willfully 

fails to pay, without abatement or reduction, in accordance with Sections 201, 201.3, 201.5, 201.9, 

202, and 205.5, any wages of an employee who is discharged or who quits, the wages of the 

employee shall continue as a penalty from the due date thereof at the same rate until paid or until 
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an action therefor is commenced; but the wages shall not continue for more than 30 days…. .” 

164. Labor Code section 210(a) provides in pertinent part:“(a) In addition to, and 

entirely independent and apart from, any other penalty provided in this article, every person who 

fails to pay the wages of each employee as provided in Sections 201.3, 204, 204b, 204.1, 204.2, 

205, 205.5, and 1197.5, shall be subject to a civil penalty as follows: (1) For any initial violation, 

one hundred dollars ($100) for each failure to pay each employee. (2) For each subsequent 

violation, or any willful or intentional violation, two hundred dollars ($200) for each failure to pay 

each employee, plus 25 percent of the amount unlawfully withheld.” 

165. Labor Code section 256 provides that “The Labor Commissioner shall impose a 

civil penalty in an amount not exceeding 30-days pay as waiting time under the terms of Section 

203.” 

166. Labor Code sections 201-203 cause the unpaid wages of the employee to continue 

as a penalty from the due date thereof at the same rate until paid or until an action therefore is 

commenced, but the wages shall not continue for more than thirty (30) days. 

167. Plaintiff alleges that, at all times material to this action, Defendants had a planned 

pattern and practice of failing to timely pay to Plaintiff and certain affected aggrieved employees 

all wages due and owing upon separation of employment as required by Labor Code sections 201 

and 202. Consequently, pursuant to Labor Code section 203, Defendants owe Plaintiff and certain 

affected aggrieved employees the above-described waiting time penalty, all in an amount to be 

shown according to proof at trial and within the jurisdiction of this Court. At all relevant times, 

Defendants failed to pay all wages due and owing to Plaintiff and certain affected aggrieved 

employees upon separation of employment within the time required by Labor Code sections 201-

202. Furthermore, as a result of the failure to pay earned minimum, regular, and overtime wages 

and rest and meal period premiums, Defendants did not pay Plaintiff and certain affected 

aggrieved employees all wages to which they were entitled upon separation of employment. 

168. At all times relevant during the PAGA Period, as a result of Defendants’ systematic 

misclassification of HLCs as “outside sales” exempt employees, Defendants failed to timely pay 

wages and failed to pay Plaintiff and other terminated employees wages owed at the time of 
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separation, and as a result, are liable for civil penalties. Because Defendants and managing agents 

had actual knowledge that loan underwriting and processing were in the central time zone and 

knew that such hours were necessary to process loans, and knew that HLCs were predominantly 

spending their time inside bank branch offices, such conduct was “knowing and willful” such that 

penalties are justified. 

169. To the extent Plaintiff and other potentially aggrieved employees have been 

impacted, Plaintiff is entitled to recover civil penalties on behalf of the LWDA and also to seek 

reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs in accordance with Labor Code section 2699(g) and/or Code 

of Civil Procedure section 1021.5, in an amount subject to court approval. 

FOURTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

For Recovery of PAGA Civil Penalties on Behalf of Plaintiff CASTRO and all Similarly 

“Aggrieved Employees” as a Representative of the LWDA, Pursuant to Labor Code § 

2699(f)(2) and as permitted by Labor Code §§ 226(a), 226.3, and 1174, and IWC Wage 

Order 4-2001, § 7 for Inaccurate Wage Statements 

170. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by this reference each of the foregoing 

allegations, as though fully set forth herein. 

171. Labor Code section 226(a) provides in pertinent part: “(a) Every employer shall, 

semimonthly or at the time of each payment of wages, furnish each of his or her employees, either 

as a detachable part of the check, draft, or voucher paying the employee’s wages, or separately 

when wages are paid by personal check or cash, an accurate itemized statement in writing showing 

(1) gross wages earned, (2) total hours worked by the employee, except for any employee whose 

compensation is solely based on a salary and who is exempt from payment of overtime under 

subdivision (a) of Section 515 or any applicable order of the Industrial Welfare Commission,…. 

(5) net wages earned… …and (9) all applicable hourly rates in effect during the pay period and the 

corresponding number of hours worked at each hourly rate by the employee…” 

172. Labor Code section 2699.5 lists wage statement violations pursuant to Labor Code 

section 226(a) as a statute for which default civil penalties may be recovered under Labor Code 

section 2699(f)(2). 

173. Further, Labor Code section 226.3 provides a separate civil penalty provisions for 

which Plaintiff may recover alternatively or in addition to the general civil penalty under Labor 
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Code section 2699(f)(2). Labor Code section 226.3 provides: “Any employer who violates 

subdivision (a) of Section 226 shall be subject to a civil penalty in the amount of two hundred fifty 

dollars ($250) per employee per violation in an initial citation and one thousand dollars ($1,000) 

per employee for each violation in a subsequent citation, for which the employer fails to provide 

the employee a wage deduction statement or fails to keep the records required in subdivision (a) of 

Section 226. The civil penalties provided for in this section are in addition to any other penalty 

provided by law. In enforcing this section, the Labor Commissioner shall take into consideration 

whether the violation was inadvertent, and in his or her discretion, may decide not to penalize an 

employer for a first violation when that violation was due to a clerical error or inadvertent 

mistake.” 

174. The Defendants did not provide accurate wage statements to Plaintiff and similarly-

aggrieved employees. Furthermore, Defendants failed to provide wage statements containing the 

items required by Labor Code section 226(a), including, but not limited to: gross wages earned, all 

deductions, net wages earned, the inclusive dates of the pay period, the employee’s name and the 

last four digits of his or her Social Security number (or employee identification number), the name 

and address of the legal entity that is the employer, and all applicable hourly rates in effect during 

the pay period and the corresponding number of hours worked at each hourly rate by the 

employee. Accordingly, Plaintiff and the similarly-aggrieved employees are entitled to damages 

under Labor Code section 226(e), including reasonable attorneys’ fees. Labor Code sections 226.3 

and 2699 also impose a civil penalty and/or assessment for these violations. 

175. As a result of Defendants’ misclassification of the HLCs as exempt “outside sales” 

employees, Defendants violated the aforementioned statutes and will be subject to civil penalties 

as to Plaintiff and all similarly-aggrieved employees, in an amount according to proof and subject 

to court approval. 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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FIFTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

For Recovery of PAGA Civil Penalties Behalf of Plaintiff CASTRO and all Similarly 

“Aggrieved Employees” as a Representative of the LWDA, pursuant to Labor Code § 558(a) 

Based on Defendants’ Failure to Comply with IWC Wage Order 4-2001, §§ 1, 3-4, 7-9, and 

11-12, and for Underpayment of Wages 

176. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by this reference each of the foregoing 

allegations, as though fully set forth herein. 

177. At all times, Plaintiff and other aggrieved employees of Defendants were subject to 

Wage Order 4-2001 despite Defendants’ misclassification of said persons as “outside sales” 

exempt employees in violation of law. 

178. Accordingly, in addition to the civil penalty claims outlined above, Defendants, and 

each of them, are liable for civil penalties pursuant to Labor Code section 558(a) for each 

employee and each pay period in the amount of $50.00 for each initial violation and $100.00 for 

each subsequent violation of any provision of IWC Wage Order 4-2001. 

179. Specifically, the Wage Order provides for regular and overtime wages. Plaintiff and 

other aggrieved employees, despite working over 8 hours per day or over 40 hours per week, were 

not paid all applicable minimum and/or overtime wages. Similarly, timecards and accurate hours 

of work were not recorded and any such records would show that Plaintiff and other aggrieved 

employees worked off-the-clock and had no compliant rest or meal periods. 

180. Violations of the IWC Wage Order 4-2001 are applicable to the Defendants, and 

each of them, and any officer, director, managing agent or person who failed to comply with the 

requirements and minimum standards of wages and hours of work under the Wage Order pursuant 

to Labor Code section 558.1.  

181. To the extent permitted by law, Plaintiff, on behalf of the LWDA and other 

aggrieved employees in the State of California, will seek penalties for each underpaid employee as 

set forth in Labor Code sections 558(a)(2)-(3) as permitted under California law, in additional to 

reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, in an amount according to proof. 

182. Plaintiff alleges that “underpaid” wages are part of the civil penalty scheme 

recoverable under the PAGA. To the extent that the matter remains subject to review by the 

California Supreme Court, the recovery is limited to civil penalties pursuant to Esparza v. KS 
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Industries, L.P. (2017) 13 Cal.App.5th 1228, 1247. Plaintiff hereby unambiguously states that he 

does not seek “unpaid wages [or] any other types of individualized relief” but will amend this First 

Amended Complaint further pending the outcome of the California Supreme Court decision in 

Lawson v. ZB, N.A., 18 Cal. App. 5th 705 (Cal. Ct. App. 4th Dist. Dec. 19, 2017, as modified Dec. 

21, 2017, Cal. Supreme Court Case No. S246711, (Oral Argument Letter Sent but Not Scheduled, 

as of March 19, 2019). 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for judgment against Defendants as follows:  

1. That the Court issue an Order that this action may be maintained as a class action 

and certify the Plaintiff Class and Subclasses herein, appointing the named Plaintiffs as 

representative of all others similarly situated, and appointing the law firms representing the named 

Plaintiffs as counsel for the members of the Class and Subclasses; 

As to the First Cause of Action for Failure to Reimburse Expenses: 

2. For reimbursement of all reasonable and necessary business expenses incurred by 

Plaintiff and the Unreimbursed Expense Subclass, in an amount according to proof; 

3. For pre-judgment interest as required by law; 

4. For all reasonable costs, litigation expenses and attorneys’ fees as required by 

Labor Code sections 2802-2804; 

As to the Second Cause of Action for Failure to Pay Regular/Minimum Wages: 

5. For damages, as set forth in Labor Code section 1194(a) and the IWC Wage 

Order(s), including IWC Wage Order 4, section 20, regarding wages due and owing, in an amount 

according to proof; 

6.  For liquidated damages and/or double damages, in an amount according to proof;  

7. For pre-judgment interest as allowed by Labor Code sections 218.6 and1194(a), 

and Civil Code section 3287; 

8. For an award of reasonable attorneys’ fees and litigation costs pursuant to Labor 

Code sections 218.5 and 1194(a), and pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5;   

/// 
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As to the Third Cause of Action for Failure to Pay Overtime Wages: 

9. For all overtime and double-time at the requisite rate of pay as required by Labor 

Code sections 510, 11904 and Wage Order 4-2001, in an amount according to proof; 

10.  For pre-judgment interest as allowed by Labor Code sections 218.6 and 1194(a), 

and Civil Code section 3287; 

11.  For an award of reasonable attorneys’ fees and litigation costs pursuant to Labor 

Code sections 218.5 and 1194(a), and pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5;  

As to the Fourth Cause of Action for Failure to Provide Compliant Meal Periods: 

12.   For recovery of meal period premiums as authorized by Labor Code sections 

226.7, 512, and IWC Wage Order 4-2001, section 11 in an amount according to proof; 

As to the Fifth Cause of Action for Failure to provide Compliant Rest Periods: 

13.   For recovery of rest period premiums as authorized by Labor Code section 226.7 

and IWC Wage Order 4-2001, section 12 in an amount according to proof; 

As to the Sixth Cause of Action for Failure to Timely Pay Wages Due:  

14.  For recovery as authorized by Labor Code section 203, totaling 30-day’s pay at the 

employees’ regular rate of pay as determined from Defendants’ payroll records as a statutory 

penalty; 

15.   For attorneys’ fees and litigation costs as permitted by statute;  

As to the Seventh Cause of Action for Failure to Provide Accurate Wage Statements:  

16.  For recovery as authorized by Labor Code section 226(e), for up to the greater of 

either a maximum of actual damages according to proof, or a maximum statutory damage of 

$4,000 per employee within the Wage Statement Subclass;  

17.  For injunctive relief as permitted by law to ensure Defendants’ compliance with 

Labor Code section 226 pursuant to Labor Code section 226(g); 

18.  For an award of costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees pursuant to Labor Code 

section 226(e) and/or section 226(g) and pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5; 

As to the Eighth Cause of Action for Recordkeeping Violations: 

19.   For actual damages, in an amount according to proof; 
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20.   For equitable relief allowing for alternative forms of proof in the absence of    

Defendants’ maintenance of required employee records; 

21.   For recovery of litigation costs and attorneys’ fees as required by Labor Code 

sections 1174.5, and/or Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5.  

As to the Ninth Cause of Action for Violations of the UCL: 

22.  For an accounting, under administration of Plaintiff and/or the receiver and subject 

to Court review, to determine the amount to be returned by Defendants, and the amounts to be 

paid to members of the Class and Subclasses who are owed monies by Defendants; 

23.   For an Order requiring Defendants to make full restitution and payment to the 

Plaintiff Class due to unfair competition, including disgorgement of their wrongfully withheld 

wages pursuant to California Business and Professions Code sections 17203 and 17204; 

24.   For the creation of an administrative process, accounting, or constructive trust 

wherein each injured member of the Plaintiff Class and Subclasses may submit a claim in order to 

receive his/her money; 

25.  That Defendants be enjoined from further acts of restraint of trade or unfair 

competition, and or any other proper form of injunctive, declaratory or equitable relief to the full 

extent permitted by the UCL; 

26. For reasonable attorneys’ fees as permitted by California Code of Civil Procedure 

section 1021.5 to the extent a public benefit is provided and subject to Court review and approval; 

As to the Tenth Cause of Action for PAGA Civil Penalties Related to Violations of 

Labor Code section 2802 (Unreimbursed Business Expenses): 

27. For recovery of civil penalties related to unreimbursed and necessary business 

expenses for each pay period during the PAGA period pursuant to Labor Code section 2699(f)(2) 

premised on Labor Code section 2802, subject to the Court’s discretion and to be distributed in a 

manner consistent with Labor Code section 2699(i) wherein 75% is to be distributed to the LWDA 

and 25% to the aggrieved employees, subject to Court approval; 

/// 

/// 
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As to the Eleventh Cause of Action for PAGA Civil Penalties Related to Violations of 

Labor Code sections 1182.12, 1194, 1194.2, 1197-1197.1, and Wage Order No. 4-2001, § 4(A) 

(Unpaid Minimum, Regular, and Overtime Wages): 

28. For recovery of civil penalties pursuant to Labor Code section 2699(f)(2) for each 

pay period on the basis that Plaintiff and other aggrieved employees were not paid minimum, 

regular, and/or overtime wages or rates of pay as required by Labor Code sections 510, 1194, 

1194.2, 1197, and 1197.1, et seq., subject to the Court’s discretion and to be distributed in a 

manner consistent with Labor Code section 2699(i) wherein 75% is to be distributed to the LWDA 

and 25% to the aggrieved employees, subject to Court approval; 

As to the Twelfth Cause of Action for PAGA Civil Penalties pursuant to Labor Code 

§ 2699(f)(2) for Failure to Comply with Labor Code §§ 226.7 and 512, and IWC Wage Order 

4-2001, §§ 11-12 (Failure to Provide Meal and Rest Periods or Compensation in Lieu 

Thereof): 

29. For recovery of civil penalties related to Defendants’ collective failure to provide 

meal and rest periods for each pay period in the PAGA period pursuant to Labor Code section 

2699(f)(2) as premised upon Labor Code sections 226.7 and 512, subject to the Court’s discretion 

and to be distributed in a manner consistent with Labor Code section 2699(i) wherein 75% is to be 

distributed to the LWDA and 25% to the aggrieved employees, subject to Court approval; 

As to the Thirteenth Cause of Action for PAGA Civil Penalties pursuant to Labor 

Code § 2699(f)(2) and as permitted by Labor Code §§ 203, 210, and 256 (Untimely 

Separation Pay): 

30.  For recovery of civil penalties pursuant to Labor Code section 2699(f)(2) premised 

on Labor Code sections 201, 202, 203, and 256 (a penalty of 30-days’ pay) for each aggrieved 

employee who was not timely paid their wages for hours worked for each workweek or pay 

period, and for those terminated or separated from employment, who were not paid their final pay 

in at least 72 hours from the date of termination/separation, as shown by Defendants’ employment 

records, in an amount according to proof based on the number of pay periods for all aggrieved 

employees in the applicable limitations period. In addition, Plaintiff seeks civil penalties in a fixed 
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amount as identified in Labor Code sections 210(a) and 256. Said penalties are subject to the 

Court’s discretion and are to be distributed in a manner consistent with Labor Code section 

2699(i) wherein 75% is to be distributed to the LWDA and 25% to the aggrieved employees, 

subject to Court approval; 

As to the Fourteenth Cause of Action for PAGA Civil Penalties pursuant to Labor 

Code § 226.3 (Inaccurate Wage Statements): 

31. For recovery of civil penalties related to Defendants’ collective failure to provide 

accurate and itemized wage statements for each pay period in the PAGA Period pursuant to Labor 

Code section 2699(f)(2) as premised upon Labor Code section 226, and/or civil penalties as 

required by Labor Code section 226.3, subject to the Court’s discretion and to be distributed in a 

manner consistent with Labor Code section 2699(i) wherein 75% is to be distributed to the LWDA 

and 25% to the aggrieved employees, subject to Court approval; 

As to the Fifteenth Cause of Action for PAGA Civil Penalties pursuant to Labor Code 

§§ 558(a)(1)-(3) for Violations of the IWC Wage Order and the Underpayment of Wages: 

32. For recovery of civil penalties pursuant to Labor Code section 558(a) for violation 

of the applicable IWC Wage Order 4-2001 for each pay period that Defendants, and each of them, 

violated Sections 3-4 (related to minimum and overtime wages) and  Sections 11-12 (related to 

compliant meal and rest periods to employees who were misclassified as outside sales employees 

and for whom one hour of pay was not provided as required by Labor Code sections 226.7 and 

512, and the Wage Order) of IWC Wage Order 4-2001. For each pay period, Plaintiff prays for 

recovery of civil penalties for $50 for the initial violation and $100 for each subsequent violation, 

subject to the Court’s discretion and to be distributed in a manner consistent with Labor Code 

section 2699(i) wherein 75% is to be distributed to the LWDA and 25% to the aggrieved 

employees, subject to Court approval; 

As to all Causes of Action: 

33.  For all wages, premium wages, and unpaid necessary business expenses, in an 

amount according to proof; 

/// 
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34. For pre- and post-judgment interest to the extent permitted by law on unpaid

wages and unreimbursed business expenses owed that are fixed and ascertainable at the legal rate 

in the State of California (10% per annum);

35. For reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred, including reasonable expert fees,

as necessary or required to maintain a class action, administration fees, and any fees for an 

accounting as permitted by Labor Code sections 218.5, 1194, 2802-2804, 2699(g), and/or Code of 

Civil Procedure section 1021.5; and

36. For such other and further relief that the Court deems equitable, just or proper.

CLAYEO C. ARNOLD, APLC
THE DARREN GUEZ LAW FIRM
COHELAN KHOURY & SINGER

Dated: By: ____________________________________
Isam C. Khoury

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiffs hereby demand trial by jury to the extent authorized by law.

CLAYEO C. ARNOLD, APLC
THE DARREN GUEZ LAW FIRM
COHELAN KHOURY & SINGER

Dated: By: ____________________________________
Isam C. Khoury

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

February 6, 2023

February 6, 2023

 

HE DARRENNNNN GUEZ 
OHELAN KHOURY

: _________________________________________________ _______________________________ __
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EXHIBIT 1


























































	Exh 1 - PAGA Notice



